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          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Good afternoon,

          3  everyone, and welcome.  Today the Education

          4  Committee will be holding a hearing and a vote on

          5  proposed Resolution No. 836-A.  This is a Resolution

          6  I sponsored that would call on the State Legislature

          7  to amend the Public Authorities Law in relation to

          8  siting requirements for the New York City School

          9  Construction Authority's leasing program.

         10                 Just last week, Cathy Nolan, who

         11  chairs the Assembly's Committee on Education,

         12  introduced a bill in the Assembly that will do just

         13  this.  Assembly Bill No. 8838 would essentially

         14  amend the Public Authorities Law to make it clear

         15  that facilities that are leased by the SCA, the

         16  School Construction Authority, are subject to the

         17  same community and Council oversight processes that

         18  other sites are subject to.  We are still waiting to

         19  see whether a companion bill will be introduced in

         20  the State Senate.

         21                 In my mind, this is a no-brainer.  I

         22  can see no reason whatsoever why we should not

         23  subject lease sites to the same due diligence as we

         24  do to other proposed educational facilities. In

         25  essence, if we're going to build a brand new school
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          2  on a site, it must pass a test to make sure that

          3  that site is environmentally clean, safe for

          4  students and faculty and all visitors.  We do that

          5  for a new site.  I say, and this Resolution says,

          6  and Cathy Nolan's bill basically says that we should

          7  do that also if we lease any locations, whether or

          8  not it's an office building, where hopefully there

          9  shouldn't be problem, or whether or not it's another

         10  building solely by itself where you may have

         11  manufacturing and stuff in there.  We need to make

         12  sure that it's safe before our children and staff go

         13  into that lease site.

         14                 I know that the Department of

         15  Education feels that subjecting the lease sites to a

         16  community and City Council review just places

         17  needless obstacles in their way when they are trying

         18  to find much needed space, but the fact of the

         19  matter is that the process does not take that long,

         20  and in any case, we have to do everything we can to

         21  make sure that the places where our children learn

         22  are safe and appropriate.

         23                 I know that the folks over at the

         24  SCA, the School Construction Authority, are

         25  professionals and that they take a lot of factors
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          2  into account when they are thinking of using any

          3  space for an educational facility.  However,

          4  mistakes have been made in the past.

          5                 For example, in 2002 environmental

          6  tests at PS65, a lease site that once was an

          7  airplane parts company in Ozone Park, Queens, showed

          8  high levels of cancer- causing chemicals in the

          9  ground water.

         10                 In addition, in 1997 the City had to

         11  shut down PS141 in Harlem after a month because of

         12  dangerous levels of possible carcinogens, chemicals,

         13  and, in essence, you know what it was?  It was perc,

         14  P- E- R- C, which basically you use in cleaners.

         15  How do I know that?  I used to take my clothes to

         16  that cleaners, and I use it every week, and the

         17  children that they placed in that school were

         18  children of my district, District 6, that we were so

         19  overcrowded that we need to look for space

         20  everywhere.

         21                 At that time, the then Board of

         22  Education, not the Department of Education, and

         23  everyone else said that they cleaned it up and the

         24  site was okay.  So they rehabbed the place, and they

         25  put our children in there.  They said they would
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          2  continue to monitor the perc levels that were coming

          3  up from the ground.  Well, after a month or so, they

          4  decided that it was unsafe for our children to be in

          5  there, and they removed them out of there totally.

          6                 So on one hand they told us in the

          7  beginning that it was safe, and then they

          8  subsequently said it was unsafe.  I'm saying that

          9  especially when you're dealing with young minds and

         10  young bodies, especially the young ones that absorb

         11  knowledge and absorb information and absorb

         12  chemicals like sponges, we cannot take that risk.

         13  So we're just asking for the same level of scrutiny

         14  that we do for regular original sites would be same

         15  for leased sites.

         16                 Now when you have public oversight of

         17  the school siting process, you have more voices

         18  coming to the table to inform decision makers about

         19  all of the factors that should be taken into account

         20  before an educational facility is housed at a

         21  particular site.

         22                 Environmental concerns are just one

         23  of our concerns. There may be others.  The fact of

         24  the matter is that communities have a right to have

         25  a say about where schools are located in their
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          2  neighborhoods.  Whatever process is appropriate for

          3  other proposed sites for educational facilities

          4  should be appropriate for leased spaces.  I see no

          5  reason why leased spaces should be singled out and

          6  treated differently.  Considering the fact that

          7  spaces and land is so tight in New York City and

          8  people are saying that we even have to build

          9  facilities, whether it's other facilities or school

         10  facilities on Brownfield, we want to make sure that

         11  they are safe and clean and meets the tests of

         12  everyone, not just the DOE and SCA, but we want to

         13  get approval from the community, from the City

         14  Council and the advocates out there where we reach a

         15  consensus that everyone agrees that it is safe for

         16  our children to go in.

         17                 Whatever process is appropriate for

         18  the proposed site for educational facilities should

         19  be appropriate for leased spaces.  I see no reason

         20  why leased spaces should be singled out and treated

         21  differently.  For this reason, I urge my colleagues

         22  to vote yes on this Resolution, and I urge the state

         23  legislature to move quickly to close this gap in the

         24  state law.

         25                 As I said to you earlier, Cathy
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          2  Nolan, the Chair of the Education Committee, has

          3  introduced a bill, and we are seeking a Senate

          4  sponsor on this particular matter.

          5                 I would also like to state that

          6  although we normally hear testimony from the

          7  Department of Education, the DOE has declined to

          8  testify at today's hearing citing their policy of

          9  not commenting on resolutions.  A resolution is not

         10  a law.  It is the will of the body, so by passing

         11  this Resolution, we are sending a message to Albany

         12  that the City of New York, meaning we as the

         13  representatives, want them to pass this law.

         14                 So we will go directly to the public

         15  testimony in order to hear what people have to say

         16  on this particular matter, and you may notice that

         17  there are only two Council Members present. Right

         18  now many of the members are downstairs in budget

         19  negotiations, and they will be called upstairs in

         20  order to vote on this particular matter.  Some are

         21  right next door in the Cultural Affairs Committee.

         22  So as soon as we're ready to vote, we will call the

         23  members upstairs to vote.  They do know what this

         24  issue is about.

         25                 We would like to hear from David
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          2  Palmer and Kizzy Charles- Guzman.  He represents the

          3  New York Lawyers for Public Interest and WEACT for

          4  Environmental Justice.  So please come forward, and

          5  before you begin, let me say that my colleague,

          6  Simcha Felder from Brooklyn is to my right over

          7  here.  He's with us, along with my colleague,

          8  Jessica Lappin from Manhattan here to my left. Also

          9  arriving now is Oliver Koppell, my colleague from

         10  the Bronx. Also, Kaylyn Acton- Chadee.  It's a

         11  client of yours, David?

         12                 MR. PALMER:  No, but we've been

         13  working closely with them.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, please

         15  you may begin your testimony, David.

         16                 MR. PALMER:  Thank you.  Good

         17  afternoon, Chairperson Jackson and Members of the

         18  Council for being here.  Thank you very much,

         19  Members of the Education Committee.  My name is Dave

         20  Palmer. I'm a staff attorney with New York Lawyers

         21  for the Public Interest. My organization represents

         22  the Concerned Residents Organization, which is the

         23  group up in Soundview that was dealing with the

         24  leased facility there, and Mary McKinney from the

         25  Concerned Residents Organization and Veronica Eady
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          2  from New York Lawyers will testify in a little bit.

          3                 We're testifying today on behalf of

          4  the 25 organizations that are listed on our

          5  testimony, which include some of the state and

          6  City's leading environmental justice, healthy

          7  schools, children's health and environmental

          8  organizations, all in favor of Resolution 836, which

          9  calls on the state legislature to pass a law to

         10  amend the Public Authorities Law and ensure that

         11  leased facilities are subject to the same school

         12  siting law that new school construction is.

         13                 MS. CHARLES- GUZMAN:  My name is

         14  Kizzy Charles Guzman, policy analyst for WEACT for

         15  Environmental Justice.  As this Committee is well

         16  aware, new schools are springing up across New York

         17  City in order to alleviate overcrowding and to

         18  replace all facilities.

         19                 As part of this effort, the SCA, in

         20  addition to creating seats through new construction,

         21  will also lease existing facilities in order to turn

         22  them into schools.  Given the limited space

         23  available, we're concerned that some of these leased

         24  facilities will be sited on contaminated properties,

         25  as has happened in the past.
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          2                 For example, in 2004, a contaminated

          3  property was turned into a high school, the

          4  Soundview Educational Campus.  This also happened at

          5  PS65 in Ozone Park, Queens, and perhaps the most

          6  infamous example is PS141 in Harlem, which has

          7  already been referenced.  It opened in '97, and

          8  after millions of dollars were spent on the

          9  renovation of this former dry cleaning facility, the

         10  City was forced to close it down after realizing

         11  that the toxic exposure of children and of school

         12  administrators was more than was allowed by state

         13  standards.

         14                 Siting schools on contaminated

         15  properties is a really risky business because, as

         16  exposure to toxic chemicals can really lead to

         17  behavioral problems, learning disabilities and

         18  decreased IQ for children.  This is of particular

         19  concern in environmental justice communities given

         20  the slew of other toxic chemicals such as diesel

         21  exhaust, to which many kids are exposed, and also

         22  the siting of other polluting facilities that are

         23  concentrated in certain neighborhoods, so what we

         24  have is a demographic that is consistently exposed

         25  to toxic chemicals.
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          2                 When new schools are constructed on

          3  contaminated land, there is a process for addressing

          4  community concerns.  To build a new school, state

          5  law requires the SCA to submit a site plan to a

          6  local community board, gives the City Council an

          7  opportunity to review the site plan and requires

          8  environmental review.  All of this process gives

          9  communities notice and an opportunity to

         10  participate.

         11                 It was this process that enabled

         12  meaningful input from the community and the Council

         13  on a recent siting of four new schools on the

         14  contaminated Mott Haven site that many of the groups

         15  supporting this Resolution were involved with.  That

         16  process is likely to result in a much safer school

         17  site, despite remaining concerns.  Unfortunately,

         18  the SCA argues that its leasing program is not

         19  subject to the same requirements as new

         20  construction.  Under the current scheme for leasing,

         21  even when there is known contamination, there may be

         22  no environmental review of proposed leased sites and

         23  no opportunity for the community and the Council to

         24  weigh in.

         25                 MR. PALMER:  Part of our concern is
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          2  that the Department of Education according to the

          3  five- year capital plan, and I testified on this

          4  during the budget process, plans to lease 30

          5  facilities around New York City right now to turn

          6  them into schools.  Found deep within the 600 pages

          7  of the Capital Budget is the only place that the

          8  Council will ever have an opportunity to weigh in at

          9  all at any leased facilities.  Currently, only 17 of

         10  them list addresses, so the rest are proposed, so we

         11  don't even know where they're going to end up.

         12                 While there may be some environmental

         13  review, right now it's not sufficient.  It's not

         14  subject to the State Environmental Quality Review

         15  Act.  We think it's anti- democratic to shut out the

         16  Council and communities from this siting process,

         17  and we think it makes no sense to differentiate, as

         18  the Chairperson said, between leased facilities and

         19  new school construction because a child is going to

         20  spend an average of four years in that building

         21  regardless, and it should be subject to the same

         22  rule.

         23                 As noted above, the Council has

         24  played a key role in ensuring stronger clean- ups

         25  that contaminated sites in the past, so our groups
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          2  insist upon Council involvement and assume that you

          3  will too in this process because it's been the

          4  Council in the past that's really been able to get

          5  stronger clean- ups at this site.

          6                 Failure to conduct sufficient

          7  environmental review given the history of placing

          8  children on these properties without providing for

          9  proper testing and without the necessary precautions

         10  in place is reckless.

         11                 MS. CHARLES- GUZMAN:  We believe that

         12  communities should have the right to know of leased

         13  facilities proposed nearby, and that the Council

         14  should have the ability to weigh in on those siting

         15  decisions.  Students and teachers have the right to

         16  a healthy school environment, and this can only be

         17  provided after a thorough environmental review.

         18  Thus, state legislation is needed to amend the

         19  Public Authorities Law to clarify expressly that

         20  leased facilities are subject to the same community

         21  participation and political and environmental review

         22  process applied to new school construction.

         23                 As noted, New York City and state's

         24  top environmental justice groups, healthy school

         25  advocates, and environmental organizations support
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          2  this change.  Assembly Member Catherine Nolan, Chair

          3  of the Assembly's Education Committee, has submitted

          4  legislation in the Assembly to close this loophole.

          5  Senator Frank Padavan has agreed to sponsor

          6  legislation in the Senate.

          7                 MR. PALMER:  I'm going to close by

          8  just saying we're here today obviously to urge the

          9  Council to pass Resolution 836 and the Committee to

         10  do so first in support of the state legislation. We

         11  thank Chairperson Jackson for introducing this

         12  Resolution and the members who have supported this,

         13  including Public Advocate, Betsy Gotbaum and

         14  representatives from Bronx Borough President Adolfo

         15  Carrion are here today, as well as representatives

         16  from Manhattan Borough President, Scott Stringer.

         17  We thank them for being here.

         18                 We support new capacity seats.  We do

         19  not want to oppose school sites.  We just to make

         20  sure that before we put children in schools, that

         21  they're safe schools and healthy schools, and we

         22  think that this Resolution in support of state

         23  legislation and the state legislation will go a long

         24  way towards doing that. We urge you to pass it

         25  today.
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          2                 In closing, I just want to point out

          3  one technical piece.  We cite the case that kind of

          4  created this loophole, and I just want to quickly

          5  talk about that and what happened there.           There

          6  was a group on the upper west side that didn't want

          7  some students from an overcrowded East Harlem school

          8  coming into this Upper Westside neighborhood, and

          9  the language that they used in some of their flyers

         10  to advocate against this suggested that there was

         11  some discriminatory reasons behind what they were

         12  saying.  I think the Judge in the case saw this, and

         13  if you read the decision in the Supreme Court, it

         14  seems to say that.  He almost scolds the local

         15  community for trying to use the school siting law to

         16  stop kids from coming in.

         17                 The Judge interpreted the statute

         18  very narrowly. The statute says that prior to

         19  commencing new construction or building additions of

         20  an educational facility or the acquisition of real

         21  property or any interest therein for such purpose,

         22  that would trigger the law.  They said the word

         23  leasing is not mentioned and therefore leased

         24  facilities are not subject.

         25                 I just want to point out that the law
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          2  actually, and I'm guessing that the intent of the

          3  legislature was to include leased facilities,

          4  doesn't just say new construction or building

          5  additions.  It actually says, or the acquisition of

          6  real property or any interest therein for such

          7  purpose.  An interest is a legal share.  It's a

          8  right, and a lease gives someone, it conveys a

          9  right.  I think leasing was already supposed to be

         10  there, and that it was a good policy decision, but

         11  created a loophole and a bad precedent, and that's

         12  what we're hoping to expressly clarify, that leased

         13  facilities are subject to the same rule, as I

         14  believe the legislature intended from the beginning.

         15    Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, let me

         17  thank you, David Palmer and you, Kizzy

         18  Charles-Guzman, representing the New York Lawyers

         19  for Public Interest and WEACT for Environmental

         20  Justice. Now we're going to hear from Kaylyn

         21  Acton-Chadee.

         22                 MS. ACTON-CHADEE:  Kaylyn

         23  Acton-Chadee.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Say that again,

         25  please?
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          2                 MS. ACTON-CHADEE:  Kaylyn

          3  Acton-Chadee.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, thank

          5  you.  Are you representing yourself, or a group or

          6  organization?

          7                 MS. ACTON- CHADEE:  I'm representing

          8  myself and a group and an organization.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, which

         10  one?  Speak up, so we can hear you, please.

         11                 MS. ACTON- CHADEE:  I'm representing

         12  myself and for my mother and for the parents of the

         13  Neighborhood TCE Organization.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, what's

         15  the name of the organization?

         16                 MS. ACTON- CHADEE:  Parents and

         17  Neighborhoods of TC Organization.

         18                 MR. PALMER: It's listed on our

         19  testimony.  Their organization has signed on.  It's

         20  Parents at PS65 Neighborhood Against TCE.  It's a

         21  group that was formed around the leased facility in

         22  Queens.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, very

         24  good.  Thank you. Go ahead, please.

         25                 MS. ACTON- CHADEE:  Thank you,
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          2  Chairperson Jackson and members of the Education

          3  Committee for this opportunity to testify.  My name

          4  is Kaylyn Acton- Chadee, and I am 14 years old. I'm

          5  here to testify in favor of Resolution 836 to make

          6  sure that other children never have to go through

          7  what I had to go through. From 1999 to 2002, I

          8  attended PS65 in Ozone Park, Queens.  PS65 was a

          9  former factory where high levels of TCE, a suspected

         10  carcinogen, were discovered underneath the school

         11  building.  In June of 1996, the Daily News had also

         12  reported that former factory workers had come

         13  forward and admitted to routinely dumping chemicals

         14  and waste oil into wells in the basement of the

         15  building.

         16                 Within a couple of months of

         17  beginning school where I had began, I had difficulty

         18  breathing.  In my final year at PS65 I was told that

         19  I had asthma though there is no history of this

         20  illness in my family.  My grades also declined

         21  during this period.           Since leaving school,

         22  my health has improved and so have my grades.

         23  Nonetheless, I will most likely have asthma for the

         24  rest of my life.

         25                 My mother read a newspaper article
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          2  about the contamination, and we realized that my

          3  illness and the illnesses of some of my friends were

          4  probably linked to this toxic waste.  Had my parents

          5  known of this contamination earlier, the doctor may

          6  have been better able to treat me, and my parents

          7  would have probably taken me out of the school to

          8  prevent further damage.

          9                 It is my understanding that the

         10  Department of Education knew about the contamination

         11  issues at PS65 well before the parents and families

         12  were informed.  My family and some others have

         13  brought legal action against the City for our

         14  injuries.  The case has not been decided yet.

         15                 As part of the a City- sponsored

         16  project, I have created a Quality of Life Proposal

         17  calling for this school to be shut down and re-

         18  opened at a new address.  I'm here today to ask the

         19  Council to pass Resolution 836 calling on the state

         20  legislation to pass a law to close a loophole in the

         21  School Construction Authority's leasing program.

         22  The law will require the SCA to notify the community

         23  and do a thorough environmental review where they

         24  plan to open leased schools on contaminated land.

         25  This law will ensure that other students won't be
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          2  exposed to this contamination that might make them

          3  sick.  Thank you for your support.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, thank

          5  you, young lady. We appreciate you coming in and

          6  giving testimony as someone that has been directly

          7  involved, not from a positive point of view, but

          8  directly involved in a school situation where you

          9  feel, and maybe medical experts feel, that you were

         10  negatively impacted by the environmental situation

         11  at that location.

         12                 Let me just say that if, in fact,

         13  that is the situation, I am sorry that that has

         14  occurred to you.  So thank you for coming in and

         15  giving testimony on behalf of yourself, your family

         16  and other people that have been negatively impacted

         17  by the situation at PS65.

         18                 Questions, Jessica Lappin of

         19  Manhattan.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chairman.  As you know, I chair the Land Use

         22  Subcommittee on Landmarks and Public Siting that

         23  oversees public siting of schools in the City.  I

         24  had a couple of questions for Mr. Palmer.

         25                 There seem to be two separate issues.
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          2    There's the policy issue of whether or not the

          3  Council should have a greater say in the leasing of

          4  school facilities throughout the City, but then

          5  separate from that there's the environmental review

          6  for leased facilities.  I wanted to start with the

          7  environmental review.

          8                 What now does the SCA do in terms of

          9  environmental review when it's planning to lease a

         10  site?

         11                 MR. PALMER:  Under the current law,

         12  the Public Authorities Law that deals with school

         13  siting, the SCA is considered the lead agency under

         14  the State Environmental Quality Review Act, so what

         15  happens is that there's an initial assessment at any

         16  site, and if there isn't any environmental concern,

         17  they can issue what's called a negative declaration,

         18  and it wouldn't have to go through this large seeker

         19  process where there's a fully asked.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  How does that

         21  differ from a site that's not being leased?

         22                 MR. PALMER:  The City has argued that

         23  they do not need to subject themselves to the seeker

         24  process, and I hope we can answer this question

         25  again with Veronica Eady, who represents the
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          2  Concerned Residents Organization because at the

          3  Soundview property they did do some kind of

          4  environmental review, but it really should have been

          5  fully subject to the seeker process and do an

          6  environmental impact statement.  That's not what

          7  happened at Soundview.  They did a truncated 20- day

          8  environmental review process.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  My other

         10  question relates to the Department of Education's

         11  response, in terms of leasing in general, is that

         12  they need to act quickly.  Or perhaps in some parts

         13  of the City they cannot obtain land, or they don't

         14  own any land, so it's the only option for them, and

         15  if they're dealing with trends of population, they

         16  need to lease space quickly in different parts of

         17  the City, so what's your response to that?

         18                 MR. PALMER:  We support that idea,

         19  and I think we even support the current law for the

         20  most part, which actually heavily favors the

         21  executive and is kind of a streamlined process

         22  already.  The only way the Council can reject the

         23  site is with two thirds of a vote.  If the Council

         24  doesn't act at all, it's automatically approved,

         25  and, as you know very well, when the site
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          2  application is submitted, it's a 20- day process

          3  where the Council has to act, so it's pretty quick

          4  already.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  How much time

          6  would the additional environmental review require?

          7                 MR. PALMER:  I think it depends on

          8  the extent of the contamination.  You've been

          9  involved in some of the sites where they've had to

         10  go through environmental review, and it can differ.

         11  But, again, if there's no contamination, it

         12  shouldn't slow down the process much at all.  If

         13  there is contamination, it might slow down the

         14  process, and that's a very compelling reason to slow

         15  down the process is to really take a hard look at

         16  the environmental impacts and how they're going to

         17  be mitigated to prevent children from being exposed

         18  once the school opens.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  Okay, thank

         20  you, Mr. Chairman.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         22  Considering that we have a break from downstairs in

         23  budget negotiations, and all of the members of the

         24  Education Committee are present, we're going to

         25  suspend the questioning for a moment in order to
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          2  call the question. My colleagues today, the

          3  Education Committee is holding this hearing on

          4  proposed Resolution 836- A.  This resolution, which

          5  I sponsored, would call on the state legislature to

          6  amend the Public Authorities Law in relation to

          7  siting requirements for New York City School

          8  Construction Authority's leasing program.

          9                 Just last week, Cathy Nolan, who

         10  chairs the Assembly Education Committee, introduced

         11  a bill in the Assembly that would do just this.

         12  Assembly Bill 8838 would essentially amend the

         13  Public Authorities Law to make it clear that

         14  facilities leased by SCA are subject to the same

         15  community and Council oversight processes that other

         16  sites are subject to.  We are still waiting to see

         17  whether or not a companion bill will be introduced

         18  in the Senate, and that's what this Resolution will

         19  do

         20                 So with that, let me just say who's

         21  here, and then I'm going to ask the Clerk to call to

         22  roll.  Again, we have Simcha Felder of Brooklyn,

         23  Peter Vallone, Jr. Of Queens, John Liu of Queens,

         24  Jessica Lappin of Manhattan, Jimmy Vacca of the

         25  Bronx, Vincent Ignizio of Staten Island, Lou Fidler
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          2  of Brooklyn, Dan Garodnick of Manhattan, Vincent

          3  Gentile of Brooklyn, Bill DeBlasio of Brooklyn,

          4  Dominic Recchia of Brooklyn, Melinda Katz of Queens,

          5  Maria del Carmen Arroyo of the Bronx, Helen Diane

          6  Foster of the Bronx and Oliver Koppell of the Bronx.

          7                 With that, I'm going to ask the Clerk

          8  to call the roll.  I recommend a yes vote.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Proposed Resolution

         10  836- A, Council Member Jackson.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I vote yes.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  DeBlasio.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Felder.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Fidler.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Foster.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Katz.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Koppell.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Liu.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Recchia.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vallone.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Arroyo.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Garodnick.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Lappin.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN:  Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vacca.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Aye.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Ignizio.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO:  Aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK:  A vote of 15 in the

         17  affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         18  abstentions.  The item has been adopted.  Members,

         19  please sign the Committee Report.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         21  Let's continue the questioning.  Any other questions

         22  my colleagues may have before I entertain questions?

         23                 Okay, let me ask the question, do you

         24  know whether prior to the court decision in Park

         25  South Tennis Corp. Versus BOE, the Board of
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          2  Education, leased sites were subject to community

          3  board and/or City Council review?

          4                 MR. PALMER:  You know, I'm not sure.

          5  I would guess so, or else it wouldn't have been a

          6  legal issue, but I'm not sure. I don't know of

          7  specific examples.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Have you

          9  attempted to provide input to the School

         10  Construction Authority and/or the Department of

         11  Education on proposed sites under the leasing

         12  program in the past?

         13                 MR. PALMER:  In terms of what?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Have you

         15  communicated with them about a leased site and

         16  whether or not you felt an environmental review

         17  should be done, or if there's problems and any

         18  communication with the Department of Education or

         19  SCA about a proposed lease site.  And, if so, what

         20  was the response to your input from the SCA,

         21  Department of Education?

         22                 MR. PALMER:  Well, in general in

         23  terms of the policy, we certainly made our thoughts

         24  clear, and we've never gotten a response or a stance

         25  from the City officially on how they feel about this
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          2  change.  Specifically, because we represent the

          3  Concerned Residents Organization, we've dealt with

          4  one site that Veronica Eady when she testifies can

          5  talk more about.  But it's been a back and forth to

          6  try and get a stronger clean up there, and we're

          7  still not fully satisfied with how that site is

          8  being dealt with.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Other than

         10  schools being placed in leased sites with

         11  environmental hazards that are toxic to students and

         12  teachers, are you aware of other problems with

         13  leased sites such as negative impact on the

         14  surrounding community?  Are you aware of anything

         15  like that?

         16                 MR. PALMER:  Not specifically.  With

         17  any new school site, I think that there's other

         18  reasons, as you said, that people might weigh in or

         19  that a local Council Member or a communities members

         20  might be concerned like traffic impacts, and I know

         21  there's been safety issues around school siting.

         22  Our organizations are specifically focusing on the

         23  environmental concerns.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Do you know

         25  whether communities districts' education councils,
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          2  which are called CEC's, whether or not they are

          3  holding hearing on sites for which community

          4  notification is required?

          5                 MR. PALMER:  I don't know for sure.

          6  Under the current law, it requires that notice be

          7  sent to the local school board, which doesn't exist

          8  anymore, so for new school construction I know it's

          9  going to the community board.  I don't know if it's

         10  being sent to the CEC's.  For leased sites, my

         11  understanding is that the School Construction

         12  Authority and the Department of Education aren't

         13  giving any notice whatsoever.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Have you met

         15  with any state legislators to discuss the

         16  legislation that Assembly Member Cathy Nolan has now

         17  introduced?  If so, what has been their reaction?

         18                 MR. PALMER:  The general response is,

         19  and I'll quote you because they used the exact

         20  phrase, this is a no- brainer. Which begs the

         21  question why isn't this passed in the legislature

         22  very easily?  Well, no one can say for sure.  I have

         23  a sense that the City is lobbying against this, and

         24  it's unfortunate that they're not here to testify

         25  today because I think that this would be going

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  through because it has gotten nothing but support up

          3  in the state legislature.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, let me

          5  thank you and Kizzy from WEACT and Kaylyn.  Let me

          6  thank you, especially you, young lady because you

          7  are a student in school, and you came here this

          8  morning, this afternoon with your family, your

          9  mother and your sister to give testimony about your

         10  personal situation, which you have had a negative

         11  experience with by being at of school that you went

         12  to, and that you know that some of your fellow

         13  students have been negatively impacted as a result

         14  of the environmental situation in that school.  So I

         15  thank all of you for coming in.

         16                 MR. PALMER:  Thank you, and thank you

         17  for this hearing, and thank you for passing the

         18  Resolution.  We hope the full Council passes it, and

         19  I think it's important to send that strong message

         20  to the legislature, and if it doesn't happen in the

         21  next two weeks, we'll try again next year.  Thanks.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Next we'll hear

         23  from Julia Howe, who is a representative of the

         24  Borough President of Manhattan, Scott Stringer.  Is

         25  there a representative from the Bronx Borough
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          2  President's Office in here?  No.  Does anyone else

          3  wish to testify?  Okay, two more after this.  Thank

          4  you.  Julia?

          5                 MS. HOWE:  Good afternoon,

          6  Chairperson Jackson and Members of the Education

          7  Committee.  Thank you for the opportunity to

          8  testify.  Resolution 836 protects the health and

          9  welfare of our City's 1.1 million school children by

         10  assuring that the School Construction Authority uses

         11  environmentally safe locations to create new and

         12  improved education sites.

         13                 Amending the current Public Authority

         14  Law in this way will clarify that leased facilities

         15  are subject to the same public and environmental

         16  review processes as new school construction.

         17                 Unfortunately, we know from

         18  experience what building on or renovating polluted

         19  sites can do to child health and education.  The SCA

         20  has already leased buildings which were deemed to be

         21  environmentally unsound and unfit to house schools.

         22                 SCA's current process for siting

         23  schools does not allow for democratic input.  Local

         24  community boards and even the City Council are not

         25  notified of the SCA siting plans and have no
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          2  opportunity to object to or put forth concerns,

          3  suggestions or alternatives.

          4                 Intro A8838, the state legislation

          5  which Resolution 836 supports, would require the SCA

          6  to notify community boards, the City Council and

          7  environmental analysts of site plans and would

          8  clarify that leased facilities, like newly

          9  constructed schools, are subject to much needed

         10  public and environmental review processes.

         11                 According to State Environmental

         12  Quality Review Act, actions that will have

         13  significant environmental impact, must be reviewed

         14  by environmental analysts.  The SCA has argued that

         15  because leased buildings do not constitute new

         16  structures, they do not have significant

         17  environmental impact and therefore are exempt from

         18  State Environmental Quality Review Act review

         19  procedures.

         20                 However, changing a building's

         21  purpose and implementing those changes does impact

         22  the surrounding community. Whether it is a newly

         23  constructed school or a renovated factory, the

         24  population inside the building should be the

         25  critical factor in terms of environmental review.
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          2                 The SCA is charged with creating

          3  educational centers.  Why should some of its school

          4  siting decisions be excused from public review

          5  intended to protect the health and well- being of

          6  children?  The proposed legislation does not seek to

          7  halt the construction of educational facilities.  It

          8  aspires to ensure that those facilities are safe for

          9  their occupants.

         10                 Several studies have drawn strong

         11  correlations between the environment and human

         12  health.  Requiring the SCA to hold leased facilities

         13  to the same standards and processes as newly

         14  constructed buildings will diminish the possible

         15  health risks associated with environmentally unsound

         16  sites.  The City has already released toxic property

         17  where environmental tests revealed levels of toxic

         18  chemicals between 10 and 25,320 times above the

         19  state standard, as seen in, as you mentioned before

         20  the Soundview Educational Complex.  In other

         21  converted sites, such as PS65 in Ozone Park, Queens

         22  and PS141 in Harlem, children have reported health

         23  problems ranging from asthma and nausea to facial

         24  paralysis.

         25                 The City's population is continuing
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          2  to grow.  The real estate market is booming, and

          3  vacant land on which to construct new school

          4  facilities is diminishing.  We can appreciate the

          5  pressure our public school system is under to

          6  accommodate more students in the face of dwindling

          7  siting options and fully accept the fact that an

          8  increasing number of schools will be created by

          9  renovating buildings previously used for other

         10  purposes rather than constructing new facilities.

         11                 This new emphasis on leasing as

         12  opposed to construction only underscores the need

         13  for public oversight of the SCA's leasing program.

         14  If passed, Intro A8838 would require the SCA to

         15  follow the same procedures irrespective of how an

         16  educational facility is developed.

         17                 Requiring an environmental analysis

         18  of a potential site does not thwart the SCA's

         19  mission.  Notifying Community Boards and the City

         20  Council is not an insurmountable burden.  Rather, it

         21  ensures that future schools will be healthy, safe

         22  places, embraced by their communities and supported

         23  by the City.

         24                 In conclusion, we believe Intro A8838

         25  is a piece of legislation critical for the
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          2  maintenance of the health and well being of our

          3  City's public school students.  Borough President

          4  Scott Stringer strongly urges the City Council to

          5  pass Resolution 836 before the end of the state

          6  legislative session.  By signaling its support for

          7  Intro A8838, the Council will underscore the

          8  necessity of the SCA adherence to uniform processes,

          9  whether building on an empty lot or renovating an

         10  old warehouse.

         11                 Resolution 836 defends and supports

         12  the democratic process by encouraging community

         13  participation in political review. I have no doubt

         14  that requiring environmental review of potential

         15  sites will ensure that no school is sited in a

         16  location that is unfit and potentially harmful.

         17                 Thank you for allowing me to comment

         18  on this issue. The Manhattan Borough President's

         19  Office looks forward to working with the City

         20  Council to realize this important legislation.

         21  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, let me

         23  thank you for coming in as a representative of

         24  Borough President Scott Stringer and giving

         25  testimony on this very important issue.  Obviously,
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          2  the Borough President feels just as strongly about

          3  this issue as I do, and as many of the advocates, so

          4  would you let him know that we thank him for

          5  preparing testimony and sending his special

          6  representative to speak on his behalf.

          7                 MS. HOWE:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

          9  Next we're going to hear from Mary McKinney of

         10  Concerned Residents Organization, Inc. Of the Bronx

         11  and Veronica Eady, of New York Lawyers for Public

         12  Interest.  Please come forward.  Mary, you can begin

         13  first.

         14                 MS. MCKINNEY:  Chairperson Jackson

         15  and Education Committee, thank you for this

         16  opportunity to provide testimony in favor of the

         17  City Council Resolution 836.  My name is Mary

         18  McKinney.  I'm the Chairperson and Executive

         19  Director of the Concerned Residents Organization.

         20                 In 2000, the residents of my

         21  community formed the Concerned Residents

         22  Organization in response to a school, the Soundview

         23  Educational Campus, being sited on the abandoned,

         24  severely contaminated site of Loral Electronics

         25  Systems across the street from our homes.  Because
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          2  it is a leased school, there was no formal siting

          3  process even though the site is severely

          4  contaminated.

          5                 The Loral site was a factory that

          6  manufactured electronics equipment for the military

          7  for almost 50 years.  It closed in 1996 and was

          8  never cleaned up.  We first learned of the School

          9  Construction Authority's plans to open a school in

         10  one of the existing manufacturing buildings months

         11  after the SCA had signed a 30- year lease for the

         12  building at a price of over $1 million per year.

         13                 In fact, the SCA signed the lease in

         14  March, 2004 and the school opened in September in

         15  2004.  The school sits on a corner of the site while

         16  the rest of the site still to this day has abandoned

         17  and dilapidated buildings, wrecked cars, dumped

         18  tires, carnival equipment, garbage dumpsters, and

         19  parked long haul municipal solid waste trucks and

         20  tanker fuel trucks.  We're talking about, they park

         21  those trucks sometimes 50 trucks per weekend.

         22                 CRO members have witnessed the fuel

         23  trucks refueling other trucks on the site.  The

         24  school is separated from the rest of the site by

         25  only a chain link fence.  The site is not secure, so
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          2  anyone can enter.  The school has no ball fields or

          3  playgrounds or outdoor space whatsoever.  As long-

          4  time neighbors of this site, we feel it is a danger

          5  to the environment and the community, and it is not

          6  a suitable site for a school.

          7                 There have been approximately 24

          8  separate violations recorded by the Department of

          9  Buildings in recent years, including several for

         10  illegal land uses I just described.  Fines assessed

         11  by the Department of Sanitation last year have still

         12  been unpaid.  CRO has brought all of these issues to

         13  the attention of SCA, and they refuse to return our

         14  numerous calls, letters and e- mails.

         15                 Given the SCA's lack of attention to

         16  the ongoing illegal activities at this leased

         17  property in my neighborhood and the lack of clean-

         18  up at the site, it is clear that any school, whether

         19  leased or not, should have a public process and City

         20  Council approval.  It is also clear that no school

         21  should be sited on a contaminated property without a

         22  formal siting process and a proper environmental

         23  clean- up that complies with the state and federal

         24  environmental laws.

         25                 You have the opportunity here today
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          2  to make sure that SCA does not repeat the same

          3  mistakes at future leased schools.  To that end, CRO

          4  supports Resolution 836 and asks you to pass it

          5  before the end of the current legislative session to

          6  ensure that future leased schools receive proper

          7  scrutiny for the safety of children, school faculty,

          8  staff and community.

          9                 I'd just like to say where I live at,

         10  the asthma rate is one of the highest in the state,

         11  in the country.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  It's probably

         13  the highest in the state and one of the highest in

         14  the country.

         15                 MS. MCKINNEY:  In the country, yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, Mary, let

         17  me thank you for coming in as the leader of the

         18  Concerned Residents Organization, Inc. In the Bronx.

         19    Clearly, what you describe is a nightmare.

         20                 MS. MCKINNEY:  It is.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I don't know

         22  based on what you said on whether or not SCA is only

         23  leasing that corner piece, or the whole entire lot,

         24  but clearly, whether or not they're leasing that

         25  little piece where the school is, or the entire lot,
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          2  all the other stuff that's going on there has a

          3  negative environmental impact on the students in

          4  that school.

          5                 MS. MCKINNEY:  Absolutely.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So this is to

          7  be continued without a doubt.  So thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 MS. MCKINNEY:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now we'll hear

         11  from Veronica Eady.  Okay, Veronica Eady, New York

         12  Lawyers for the Public Interest.

         13                 MS. EADY:  Well, I want to begin by

         14  thanking you, Chairperson Jackson and the Committee

         15  for your leadership on this issue.  It's really

         16  important, as you know, and it's really thrilling

         17  for both Dave Palmer and myself, as we hear every

         18  day literally from parents, children, teachers from

         19  in particular Queens and the Bronx, and some schools

         20  that aren't even represented here, that are on

         21  contaminated sites.

         22                 I am the attorney from New York

         23  Lawyers for the Public Interest that represents Ms.

         24  McKinney and the Concerned Residents Organization,

         25  and you heard from her that they formed in 2000
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          2  around issues with the Soundview Educational Campus.

          3    I'll fill in some of the details that Ms. McKinney

          4  has raised.

          5                 It was 48 years that the Loral site

          6  was used for manufacturing military and electronic

          7  systems, and the storage of hazardous materials,

          8  including 13 federally and state regulated hazardous

          9  materials that they used during the manufacturing

         10  process.

         11                 When the SCA decided to open the

         12  school by leasing an existing Loral building, and

         13  this building had been used for painting and

         14  manufacturing, among other things, they did not

         15  consult the community, the parents and many of the

         16  children who attend the school are not from the

         17  neighborhood, so their parents really wouldn't have

         18  any reason to know that they were going to school on

         19  a contaminated site.  There was no consultation with

         20  Community Board 9 or Council Members.

         21                 The school has now been open for

         22  three full years, and even though the SCA's own

         23  environmental investigation found very high levels

         24  of heavy metals in the soil and groundwater,

         25  arsenic, barium, cadmium, chromium and mercury, and
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          2  those are only a few, a small fraction, were found

          3  at very high levels, as high as four times the state

          4  standards for soil and over 1,000 times the state

          5  standard for ground water.  You heard earlier, lead

          6  samples registered at over 25,000 times the state

          7  standard.

          8                 Despite this significant

          9  contamination, the SCA completed its environmental

         10  investigation, obtained a zoning override to locate

         11  a school in a manufacturing district, and entered a

         12  30- year lease worth $38.6 million, and I calculated

         13  that this morning, all within 20 days without any

         14  oversight, without any public review.

         15                 One of the chief concerns of the

         16  community is the only clean- up at the site

         17  consisted of the removal of 12 inches of soil around

         18  the periphery of the school and the paving of a

         19  driveway.  CRO members have told me that the

         20  landscaping that planted around in those 12 inches

         21  of soil sort of to cosmetically make the school look

         22  better, quickly become discolored, and I've seen

         23  this myself, presumably from the remaining

         24  contamination below those 12 inches.  They have to

         25  be regularly replaced.  In fact, to my knowledge,
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          2  there's no subsurface barrier to keep the

          3  contamination from migrating underneath the school

          4  from the rest of the 11 acre property, which remains

          5  contaminated.

          6                 As you know, the school is on the

          7  corner of the property.  There's a lot of illegal

          8  activity going on, dumping of tires, all piled up

          9  along the Bronx River, garbage dumpsters, all sorts

         10  of graffiti and everything.  Had the school been

         11  subject to the public siting process and City

         12  Council approval, students, faculty and staff at the

         13  school, as well as the neighboring community as a

         14  whole, would be a safer place.

         15                 Again, I'm really delighted by the

         16  leadership on this issue.  Our elected officials to

         17  the City Council are an integral part of the

         18  community and have personal knowledge of the

         19  community and of the sites and what's appropriate

         20  and what's not. I want to thank and commend, in

         21  particular, Council Members Maria del Carmen Arroyo

         22  and Annabel Palma, who have been very active and

         23  supportive of concerned residents and the students

         24  who attend the Soundview School.

         25                 We believe that regardless of whether

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  or not a site is leased or whether the City owns the

          3  property, needs public scrutiny and it will ensure

          4  the safety, particularly where there are

          5  environmental concerns.  It will ensure the safety

          6  of the students and faculty who deal every day with

          7  the school and make the neighborhood a better

          8  community.

          9                 In closing, I want to just offer our

         10  support as this Resolution makes its way through the

         11  full Council.  If there any outstanding questions

         12  that we can answer regarding the Public Authorities

         13  Law or the environmental review laws, we are a phone

         14  call away or an e- mail away and can help you with

         15  that.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, let me

         17  thank you for coming in on behalf of your client,

         18  the Concerned Residents Organization, Inc. And its

         19  Executive Director, Mary McKinney. Clearly, that

         20  situation leaves too much to be desired.  I hope

         21  that it's cleaned up, and I hope that the DOE takes

         22  whatever measures it has to to ensure that the

         23  safety of the children and the people there that are

         24  attending that school are protected, so we need to

         25  take a look at that even now.
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          2                 I'm glad that the New York Lawyers

          3  for Public Interest are out there advocating because

          4  without, I guess CBO's and other attorneys that do

          5  pro bono work, and even those that work and get

          6  paid, but I do know that without you, I don't know

          7  where we would be at.  So thank you both for coming

          8  in.

          9                 Now we're going to call on Simcha

         10  Felder of Brooklyn.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you

         12  very much, Mr. Chairman, for bringing this very,

         13  very important Resolution forward, and as the

         14  Assemblyman mentioned, it is really a no brainer.  I

         15  don't want to in any minimize the testimony that

         16  took place so far, but really I think when the Chair

         17  asked about other issues that may impact the siting

         18  of a lease for schools, and I just want to say

         19  again, very clearly, that I can't compare any of the

         20  other issues that exist to the question of the

         21  health of children.

         22                 I would say that, at the same time,

         23  it seems quite odd that City government spends a lot

         24  of time when developers do construction, making sure

         25  that the properties are safe.  You talk to
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          2  developers, and they'll tell you how much money they

          3  spend on lawyers and engineers to make sure that

          4  their properties are cleaned up and that development

          5  is okay, but I would say in addition to that, some

          6  of the issues that you hinted to about

          7  transportation.

          8                 A school doesn't happen in a vacuum.

          9  When a school is sited in any neighborhood, the

         10  children are impacted as well as the neighborhood.

         11  There's more demand for security.  There's more

         12  demand for sanitation clean- up.  There are

         13  certainly traffic issues, and the whole host of

         14  issues that are taken into consideration with a

         15  regular siting for a purchase of property don't

         16  change when it's a leased property unless the lease

         17  for a day, which it's not.  When the City leases

         18  property, it's a long term lease, at least for five

         19  years or more.  So that means for five years or more

         20  there are going to be children interacting with

         21  teachers, with the parking and everything else in

         22  the neighborhood as well.

         23                 So it just doesn't make any sense not

         24  for the City Council to do what it does when we

         25  consider siting a school in a purchase.  And since
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          2  we're certainly not prepared to give up the

          3  authority on a purchase, it only makes sense that on

          4  a lease the same thing should take place.

          5                 I do not want to sound as though

          6  elected officials know everything that goes on in a

          7  neighborhood, but I'd like to. And I think my

          8  colleagues have a pretty good sense of what goes on

          9  their neighborhoods that they represent, sometimes,

         10  I dare say, better than some people who work at the

         11  Department of Education. And if that's the case, it

         12  would be good for us to have the input. I say that

         13  because when we do the sitings, very often the

         14  Chair, whether it's in this Committee or a Chair in

         15  another Committee, will say, well, who's the Council

         16  Member in that neighborhood, when it's a zoning

         17  issue or an education issue or whatever it may

         18  because you want to find out how they feel.

         19                 This is a perfect example of if we

         20  follow the same procedures that we'd follow in the

         21  purchase siting, I think that we have the

         22  opportunity to help, not hinder, but to help the

         23  City find locations that would be safe and healthy

         24  and good for the children as well as for surrounding

         25  neighborhoods, so I applaud the Chair for this
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          2  Resolution.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,

          4  Council Member. Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr. Of

          5  Queens.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I want to

          7  echo those thoughts though nowhere near in as long a

          8  speech and commend you for this Resolution today.  I

          9  voted aye on it.  I think it's a great one.  I think

         10  if we've done nothing else, we've brought yet

         11  another respected group out wondering why a no-

         12  brainer won't pass in Albany.  So welcome to our

         13  world, and when Simcha Felder, Chair of Gov Ops, has

         14  our next hearing on cessation, you might want to

         15  come down and testify as to why good laws like this

         16  and so many others die in Albany.  Lots of reasons,

         17  way too many to go into now, but again, thank you,

         18  Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,

         20  Council Member. Would you call the roll for my

         21  colleague, David Yassky of Brooklyn.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member

         23  Yassky.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I vote aye,

         25  and I too would like to just thank you, Mr. Chair.

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  Even schools that go through the ordinary process

          3  sometimes don't get the kind of consultation that

          4  they ought to, but certainly when they're done this

          5  way, they need to do that, and I really appreciate

          6  your taking the lead on this.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,

          8  Council Member. With that, and hearing no other

          9  witnesses, this hearing is now closed.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 2:06 p.m.)
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